FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/3/2021 4:41 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/4/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100</u>355-2 (COA No. 81106-1-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TAMEE PURDY,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The right to present a defense and receive a fair trial by jury include the right to present relevant evidence that contradicts the prosecution's explanation of events and to exclude unfairly prejudicial evidence that encourages jurors to decide the case based on impermissible factors. At Ms. Purdy's trial for third degree assault, the court admitted evidence portraying Ms. Purdy as threatening and belligerent to other people, while simultaneously excluding evidence showing the

police officer who claimed he was assaulted appeared undisturbed and unharmed after the incident. Did the court misconstrue the governing rules of evidence and deny Ms. Purdy her rights to present a defense and receive a fair trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On New Year's Eve, some neighbors living on Fleming Street got together to shoot fireworks and have drinks. RP 289. Dana Lashbrook "had a lot to drink" with her neighbors. RP 313. As Ms. Lashbrook was heading home after midnight, she encountered a woman who was "really loud" walking down the street. RP 307. Ms. Lashbrook and this woman "yelled back and forth" at each other. RP 308. Ms. Lashbrook called 911 to report a woman "yelling in the street." RP 189, 309.

Police officer Ryan Greely responded. RP 187. Officer Greely saw two people in different houses yelling back and forth at Ms. Purdy, who was walking in a direction away from him. RP 192. The people arguing were "very animated." *Id.* He

heard "verbal threats from both sides," saying they would "beat each other's asses." RP 193.

Officer Greely told Ms. Purdy "to stop" but she said "get the fuck away." RP 193-94. Ms. Purdy kept walking away from Officer Greely. RP 194. Officer Greely decided to "physically stop her" from walking away, and lunged toward her to grab her arm. RP 195. Officer Greely said he was concerned there could be a fight and wanted to stop it before it happened. RP 196.

Officer Greely said he grabbed Ms. Purdy's arm and she responded by hitting him one time in the arm, with an open hand. RP 196. Officer Greely immediately "took her to the ground" using a "straight arm bar technique." RP 197. He handcuffed Ms. Purdy and called for a supervisor because he had used force against an arrestee. RP 197, 251-52. Ms. Purdy had cuts on her chin and hand from the impact of Officer Greely forcing her to the ground. Exs. 3-4, RP 248.

Ms. Purdy's friend and former work colleague, Jason Heil happened to be in a taxi that stopped due to the police activity. RP 316, 324, 333. He saw an officer lunge at Ms. Purdy and tackle her to the ground. RP 324-25. She never hit the officer. RP 326, 343. He offered to take Ms. Purdy home but the officer refused. RP 328.

For this incident, Ms. Purdy was charged with third degree assault.

At her trial, she objected to evidence describing threats and insults police said she made to them after the incident, but the court admitted them as relevant. CP 77-79; RP 14-20.

Officer Stephen Klocker told the jury that while driving Ms.

Purdy to jail, she made "threats," such as saying she "could rip our throats out." RP 229. Officer Klocker also described Ms.

Purdy insulting Officer Greely while in the police car. RP 229.

Acting sergeant Nathan Wallace similarly claimed Ms. Purdy was "belligerent and yelling" while in custody and insulted him. RP 247-48.

Sergeant Wallace agreed he did not see any injuries to Officer Greely. RP 254. A video taken by one of the police officers included some photos of Ms. Purdy's injuries but none of Officer Greely. Ex. 14.

The court refused to admit a 40-second video showing Ms. Purdy and Officer Greely after the arrest in which Officer Greely smiled and chuckled when another officer said he should have "let them beat her ass." RP 299-301; Ex. 14 (00:23-36).

The court also admitted, over objection, testimony from a bouncer about a separate incident that occurred at the bar where he worked. RP 14, 263-64, 270, 274-77. Bouncer Tony Stiffarm said a woman got "a little irate," said "vulgar words" to the bartender, and "was not cooperative." RP 280-81, 287. When Mr. Stiffarm asked her to leave, she "started being physical." RP 282. He "confronted her" and told her to leave,

¹ The court sustained the defense objection to this testimony. RP 282-83.

which she did. RP 283. Mr. Stiffarm was not sure what time this incident occurred and did not identify Ms. Purdy as the person he interacted with, but the police claimed she matched the description given at the time. RP 188, 201, 280, 287.

Ms. Purdy was convicted of assault in the third degree.

CP 56. The court imposed a first-time offender sentence. RP

465.

On appeal, she challenged the court's evidentiary rulings that allowed the jury to conclude she was the type of person who would insult, threaten, and assault others while also barring her from introducing a video supporting her argument that she did not assault the police officer. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

E. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals opinion dilutes the right to present a defense and encourages jurors' reliance on inflammatory allegations of uncharged wrongful acts.

1. The right to present a defense does not apply only when a person makes a threshold showing that evidence has "extremely high probative value," contrary to the Court of Appeals.

A person accused of a crime has the right "to present a complete defense and to confront adverse witnesses." *State v. Orn*, 197 Wn.2d 343, 347, 482 P.3d 913 (2021). The "minimum essentials of a fair trial" include the opportunity to meaningfully challenge the credibility of the prosecution's witnesses. *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 296 (1973); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. An accused person has "the right to put before a jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt." *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S. Ct. 989, 94 L. Ed. 2d 40 (1987).

One issue before the Court of Appeals was whether Ms. Purdy's rights to present a complete defense and challenge the credibility of the accusations against her was violated when the court barred from offering video evidence showing the complaining witness, Officer Greely, appeared calm and uninjured shortly after the incident and smiled and chuckled to a fellow officer's comment that he should have let the neighbors "beat" Ms. Purdy's ass. Ex. 14.

The Court of Appeals ruled that no Sixth Amendment violation occurs unless the court excludes evidence that is "of extremely high probative value." Slip op. at 16, quoting *State v. Case*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 657, 669, 466 P.3d 799 (2020).

This explanation of the law dilutes the constitutional right to present a defense. It uses the harmless error test that follows a constitutional violation as a substitute for the error itself. Contrary to the Court of Appeals, the right to present a

defense applies in all cases, and is not triggered only by evidence of "extremely high probative value."

Because the constitutional right to present a defense supercedes evidentiary rules, and stems from a different source than the rules of evidence, the rules of evidence do not trump the constitutional right to present a complete defense. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 724, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); see *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 61, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 1370, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004) (Sixth Amendment's protection is not subject to "vagaries of the rules of evidence"). A court "necessarily abuses its discretion" when its evidentiary rulings deny "a criminal defendant's constitutional rights." *Orn*, 197 Wn.2d at 351.

In *Jones*, the trial court had rejected evidence as inadmissible, but because this evidence was critical to his defense, the evidence rule could not trump his right to present a defense. 168 Wn.2d at 724-25. On the other hand, in *State v*. *Arndt*, 194 Wn.2d 784, 813, 453 P.3d 696 (2019), the

defendant was able to offer evidence supporting his theory of defense even though the court limited his expert's testimony after finding the expert's methods were not founded in established science.

More recently in *Orn*, this Court held the trial court impermissibly limited evidence regarding the potential bias of a key witness. The Court explained that a witness's bias is "always relevant as discrediting the witness and affecting the weight of his testimony." 197 Wn.2d at 353. Only minimal relevance is required and this witness's bias was certainly relevant. *Id.* at 353-54.

Because the evidence was relevant, the *Orn* Court assessed whether the State had a compelling interest in excluding it. *Id.* at 355-56. Concluding there was no such reason to exclude the evidence, this Court assessed whether the violation of the Sixth Amendment required reversal. *Id.* at 359.

The Court of Appeals disregarded this test in Ms.

Purdy's case. Instead, it insisted there cannot be a Sixth

Amendment violation unless the defendant proves the "extremely high probative value" of the excluded evidence. Slip op. at 16. This analysis is contrary to *Orn* and the cases on which it relied.

Ms. Purdy had no other avenue to challenge the officer's credibility and the reliability of his claim of assault or to document the hostility of the officer's toward her. CP 72-74. The court refused to let her show the jury evidence that the officer's post-incident behavior cast doubt on whether he was actually assaulted as he claimed. The only rule of evidence at issue was the court's determination that the evidence was not relevant enough. RP 179, 225-26, 229-301. But relevance is a low bar, and the court unreasonably refused to credit the importance of this video to Ms. Purdy's right to challenge the allegations against her. State v. Briefer, 172 Wn. App. 209, 225, 289 P.3d 698 (2012) ("The threshold for relevance is very low.").

The Court of Appeals' erroneous use of an inflated threshold to assess a Sixth Amendment violation raises an issue of substantial public importance. Even if the court's refusal to admit this evidence alone may not require reversal, errors that occur in a case may be taken together to cumulatively show the denial of a fair trial. *See State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984); *State v. Badda*, 63 Wn.2d 176, 183, 385 P.2d 859 (1963). By insisting there can be no error at all unless the evidence at issue is of extremely high probative value, Ms. Purdy is left unable to contend the errors, taken together, denied her a fair trial.

By conflating the right to present a complete defense with the harmless error test for such a violation, and concluding Ms. Purdy had to prove the harmfulness of the error to establish the error, the court denied her the right to seek reversal based cumulative harm from various errors. This Court should grant review due to the Court of Appeals' misapplication of the right to present a defense.

2. The court impermissibly admitted a host of evidence alleging Ms. Purdy's uncharged acts to portray her propensity for misbehaving, based on an untenable expansion of res gestae.

The right to a fair trial also includes the right to the presumption of innocence. *Estelle v. Williams*, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 126 (1976). Implementing the presumption of innocence requires a court to "be alert to factors that may undermine the fairness of the fact-finding process." *Id*.

Here, the prosecution undermined Ms. Purdy's right to a fair trial by admitting unduly prejudicial evidence about uncharged misconduct.

ER 404(b) categorically bars the admission of other "acts" to prove that during the incident in question, a person acted "in conformity" with the behavior at another time. *State v. Everybodytalksabout*, 145 Wn.2d 456, 468, 39 P.3d 294 (2002); *see State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). The rule is designed to prevent the prosecution

from "suggesting" an accused person is guilty because she is the type of person who would commit the crime charged. *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007).

Over Ms. Purdy's objection, the prosecution offered testimony about unrelated allegations that she misbehaved at a bar earlier in the evening. CP 78, RP 14, 16-17, 263-64. The trial court ruled it was part of the incident, even though none of the same people or behavior was at issue and it had nothing to do with whether she struck Officer Greely one time in the arm. Yet the Court of Appeals affirmed this analysis, illogically concluding that a person's hostile behavior toward a bar's bouncer demonstrates a person's "state of mind" when reacting a police officer's effort to grab her at a different location for an unrelated reason. Slip op. at 11-12. It adopted an extended res gestae approach to deem conduct that occurred at a different time and place constitutes the crime itself that unreasonably extends the law. Slip op. at 11-12.

Also over Ms. Purdy's objection, the court admitted allegations she threatened other police officers while in a police car being driven to jail following her arrest, and made vulgar insults toward these others police officers following her arrest.

The prosecution contended Ms. Purdy's threats to law enforcement and other insulting words show her "consciousness of guilt" and prove the police did not make up an allegation that she assaulted them. RP 19. The court ruled her statements were "relevant to her state of mind" after the incident and were not governed by ER 404(b). RP 20.

Ms. Purdy's emotional reaction to being arrested has no bearing on whether she committed the charged assault. But it is highly prejudicial evidence and the type of evidence likely to influence the jury, and thus inadmissible under ER 403.

The evidence about Ms. Purdy's post-arrest insults and threats to police officers was used by the prosecution to show she was an aggressive and irate person, who must have acted in

conformity with that behavior and purposefully assaulted
Officer Greely. RP 410-11, 432-33. It should not have been admitted.

The Court of Appeals misapplied and misunderstood the rules of evidence as well as Ms. Purdy's right to present a defense. This Court should grant review.

F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Tamee Purdy respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

Counsel certifies this document contains approximately 2475 words and complies with RAP 18.7(b).