FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/18/2021 8:05 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100355-2

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

TAMEE MARIE PURDY,

Petitioner.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that review be denied.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set out in the Court of Appeals opinion.

#### III. ARGUMENT

## A. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY UPHELD THE EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE THAT WAS AT MOST ONLY MARGINALLY RELEVANT.

The petitioner asks this court to review the exclusion of evidence. Such review involves two steps. First, the trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. The appellate court will then review de novo whether those rulings violated the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 797-98 ¶¶ 24-25, 453 P.3d 696 (2019).

The Court of Appeals followed this analysis. It first determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion

in holding the evidence irrelevant. Slip op. at 15-16. It then held that the evidence was not of sufficiently high probative value to require its admission. Slip op. at 16.

Under the circumstances of this case, the conclusion as to relevance essentially resolves the constitutional issue as well.

[A] defendant has no right to present irrelevant evidence. And the Constitution permits judges to exclude evidence that is repetitive[,] only marginally relevant[,] or poses an undue risk of harassment, prejudice, or confusion of the issues.

State v. Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 352 ¶ 16, 482 P.3d 913 (2021). Since the evidence here was at most only marginally relevant, excluding it was not a constitutional violation.

The petitioner claims, however, that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard for a Sixth Amendment violation. The court said that such a violation requires a showing that the excluded evidence had "extremely high probative value." Slip op. at 16, quoting

State v. Case, 13 Wn. App. 2d 657, 669 ¶ 28, 466 P.3d 799 (2020). That analysis as well is consistent with Orn. This court said that if evidence is not "critically important," its exclusion is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Orn, 197 Wn.2d at 353 ¶ 17. The Court of Appeals' application of this standard does not warrant review.

# B. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED ESTABLISHED LAW IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF THE PETITIONER'S ACTIONS AND STATEMENTS CLOSE IN TIME TO THE ASSAULT.

The trial court admitted evidence of the petitioner's statements and actions shortly before and after the charged assault. The Court of Appeals held that the evidence of pre-assault conduct was admissible under the "same transaction" or "res gestae" doctrine. Slip op. at 11-13. That doctrine allows the State to "complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context of happenings near in time and place." State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 831, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). The court's application of that doctrine does not warrant review.

With regard to the post-arrest statements, the Court of Appeals cited a case holding similar statements to show the defendant's "state of mind and hostility toward the officer." Slip op. at 13, citing State v. Dillon, 12 Wn. App. 2d 133, 150, 456 P.3d 1199 (2020). "Both prior and subsequent hostile acts or declarations have been found admissible, to issues of motive, malice, deliberation and state of mind, where relevant to such conditions as of the time of the offense." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 822, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) (plurality op.). This doctrine has been applied to evidence of hostility to a group of which the victim was a member. See State v. Arredondo. 188 Wn.2d 244, 260-61 ¶ 33, 394 P.3d 348 (2017) (acts showing hostility towards the victim's gang). Again, the application of this doctrine does not warrant review.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.

This Answer contains 609 words (exclusive of appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, and signature blocks).